Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Court Administrator and Clerk

Electronically FILED on 11/2/2017 by Leah Toala, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S245203

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FACEBOOK, INC.,	
Petitioner,)
) No
V.) Court of Appeal No
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN COUNTY,	DIEGO) D072171)
Respondent.) Superior Court No.) SCD268262
LANCE TOUCHSTONE,))
Real Party in In) iterest.)
)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One, Filed September 26, 2017

ISSUE PRESENTED

Are criminal defendants constitutionally entitled to pretrial disclosure of social media records sought by subpoena duces tecum upon a showing of good cause, in order to achieve a fair trial and due process, to present a complete and adequate defense, and to confront and cross examine percipient witnesses at jury trial?

Does the Stored Communication Act (18 U.S.C. § 2701, et. seq.), which prohibits the production of social media records from electronic communication or remote computing services to criminal defendants, violate fundamental concepts of justice-such as a defendant's right to compulsory process and confrontation under the Sixth Amendment and due process rights to a fair trial under the Fourteenth Amendment-to the extent that the Act is unconstitutional as applied in this case?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review in this case is necessary to settle an important question of law addressing the pretrial rights of criminal defendants to discovery necessary for an adequate defense and fair trial, specifically to social media records that reflect the character, biases, motivations, and criminality of percipient and complaining witnesses. (Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1).) Social media use has become ubiquitous across all communities, ages, and demographics. It has similarly emerged in the justice system as heavily-utilized, outcomedeterminative evidence in the prosecution of criminal cases. Unfortunately,

based on the limiting language of the Stored Communications Act ("SCA"), access to these records is prohibited to the criminally accused at all stages of the proceedings. Thus a criminal defendant cannot utilize the same records as the prosecution in investigating their case and cannot prepare for trial with a complete or comprehensive investigation conducted into all mitigating and exculpatory evidence known to be available in the case. This presents a legislative oversight of constitutional proportions.

Whether the criminal defendant has a constitutional right to pretrial access to social media records, or evidence in general, is an area that has not been resolved by the United States Supreme Court. The instant case, following in the footsteps of Facebook, Inc. v. Superior Court (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 203, (review granted and opinion superseded in *Facebook*, *Inc.* v. Superior Court (Cal. 2015) 362 P.3d 430 (Facebook I)), seeks a resolution to this unsettled question of law. In doing so, it questions the scope and validity of *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117, which twenty years ago held that a molestation victim's confidential psychotherapy records could only be released to a criminal defendant at trial-not pretrial-upon a showing of good case. A review of *Hammon* is timely, because it is used by the Court of Appeal in Facebook I and the instant case to undermine the criminal defendant's constitutional right to access exculpatory evidence pretrial, which real party Mr. Touchstone argues exists as a matter of constitutional law. Given that this Court is under a solemn obligation to

interpret and implement the United States Constitution, this Court should grant review to settle this important question of law.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In August 2016, Lance Touchstone drove to San Diego, California to visit his sister Rebecca Touchstone. When he arrived, he discovered that Rebecca's boyfriend, Jeffrey Renteria, had moved into her home. Over the next several days, Mr. Touchstone observed odd behavior by Renteria.

Mr. Touchstone grew concerned for their safety on August 8, 2016, when he noticed that Rebecca's personal firearms were missing from the home, as well as Renteria himself, who appeared to have moved out. When Mr. Touchstone and Rebecca attempted to contact Renteria over the phone about the missing firearms, Renteria made threatening statements that he was coming to harm Mr. Touchstone and Rebecca. Hours later, while Mr. Touchstone and Rebecca were home alone, Renteria burst through the front door and lunged at them. Mr. Touchstone, armed with his personal handgun, immediately fired, hitting Renteria three times. None of the wounds were fatal.

Mr. Touchstone set aside his weapon, called 911, and was ultimately arrested for assault. He was compliant and cooperative with responding officers, giving a detailed explanation of the day's events and efforts to defend himself and his sister against Renteria. He was ultimately charged in San Diego County Superior Court with violating California Penal Code

section 664/187 for attempted murder, with allegations of personal use of a firearm and personal infliction of great bodily injury within the meaning of California Penal Code sections 12022.5(a) and 12022.7(a). Mr. Touchstone plead not guilty to the charge and allegations, which expose him to a maximum of twenty-two years in state prison.

Since the shooting, Renteria has actively posted updates and messages on his personal Facebook account. He posted updates of his physical recovery from the hospital, requesting private messages over the Facebook messaging system. He posted updates of court hearings in this case, seeking community participation at the preliminary hearing. As he continued a romantic relationship with Rebecca, Renteria posted comments about killing her on his Facebook page. He posted about using drugs and the impact those drugs have on his mental health. He posted about his personal use of guns, describing in detail his desire to rob and kill people. These posts were made on the public portion of his Facebook page, which are visible to all users.

On February 26, 2017, Mr. Touchstone requested that the prosecution produce Renteria's Facebook records. The prosecution declined to do so. Mr. Touchstone filed a Motion to Compel that was denied. On March 16, 2017, the court signed a subpoena duces tecum ordering Facebook to produce Renteria's Facebook records. Facebook responded by filing a Motion to Quash. On April 27, 2017, the Honorable Kenneth So issued a ruling denying the motion, ordering that the records be produced for *in camera*

review. The court found that "Touchstone has a due process right to the information to defend himself on a very serious case that Facebook might have possession of.... there is a due process right to the information...."

Facebook filed a petition to the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, requesting that the superior court's April 27, 2017 ruling be vacated and Motion to Quash granted. After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued a ruling on September 26, 2017, granting Facebook's petition and directing the trial court to vacate its April 27, 2017 order.

Mr. Touchstone files the instant petition on a novel issue of law regarding a criminal defendant's constitutional right to discovery-specifically to a witness' social media records-in light of the federal SCA which prohibits production of these records to any party other than the government.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS DO NOT HAVE A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRETRIAL DISCOVERY OF SOCIAL MEDIA RECORDS DIRECTLY FROM SERVICE PROVIDERS UPON A SUFFICIENT SHOWING THAT THE REQUESTED RECORDS ARE NECESSARY FOR DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL.

Mr. Touchstone persists in his assertion that the right to pretrial discovery-such as the social media records sought in this case-is constitutional and that any law diminishing the criminal defendant's right to pretrial discovery should be limited or overruled to permit the fair exchange of material, exculpatory evidence in criminal cases. These social media

records are necessary pretrial, in order to ensure that Mr. Touchstone achieves a fair trial as guaranteed by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. These records are necessary to ensure the full and fair expression of his rights to confrontation, cross examination, and compulsory process as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.

To the extent that the SCA deprives Mr. Touchstone of his rights by prohibiting the production of necessary records during the pretrial stages of the case, it is unconstitutional. Because alternatives to obtain these records are not viable in this case, it is timely for this Court to address the constitutionality of the SCA for its failure to accommodate the criminal defendant's constitutional rights to pretrial discovery, confrontation, cross examination, compulsory process, and a fair trial.

A. Real Party in Interest Touchstone Needs These Records Pretrial in Order to Achieve a FairTrial as Guaranteed by Due Process.

Laws cannot not be applied in a manner that will deprive a criminal defendant of his right to due process. (*Chambers v. Mississippi* (1972) 410 U.S. 284.) In *Chambers v. Mississippi*, the United States Supreme Court addressed the question of whether long-standing evidentiary rules could act as a bar to evidence that was relevant to the defense. (*Id.* at p. 294.) There, the trial court prevented the defendant from cross-examining an individual who had previously admitted committing the crime that the defendant was charged with. (*Id.* at pp. 291-292.) The trial court then precluded the

defendant from calling witnesses to the individual's confessions who could also have established facts significant to the defense. (*Id.* at pp. 292-294.) Finding that the trial court erred, the United States Supreme Court determined that the trial court's rulings infringed the defendant's due process. For the Court, "[t]he right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defense against the State's accusations. The rights to confront and cross examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one's on behalf have long been recognized as essential to due process." (Id. at p. 294.) The court concluded that constitutional rights relating to determinations of guilt were paramount and found that the exclusion violated the defendant's due process. Specifically, according to the court, "[f]ew rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense... in these circumstances where constitutional rights directly affecting the ascertainment of guilt are implicated, the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically to defeat the ends of justice." (*Id.* at p. 302.)

Similarly, a generalized interest in confidentiality cannot lawfully preclude a defendant from receiving physical evidence relevant to a criminal trial. (*United States v. Nixon* (1974) 418 U.S. 683, 713.) In *Nixon*, the Special Prosecutor issued a subpoena to the President that requested the production of tapes, transcripts, and other writings relevant to the prosecution of seven defendants who were charged and indicted with

conspiracy and obstruction. (*Id.* at p. 688.) These records were relevant to the examination and potential impeachment of those witnesses. In response to the subpoena, counsel for the President filed a motion to quash and claimed that the items were privileged. (*Ibid.*) In deciding the matter, the court addressed the question of whether a valid claim of privilege foreclosed the disclosure of evidence relevant to a criminal case. (*Id.* at p. 703.)

The court first noted the importance of the privilege: "The privilege is fundamental to the operation of government and inextricably rooted in the separation of powers under the Constitution." (U.S. v. Nixon, supra, 418 U.S at p. 708.) The court then addressed the importance of fact-gathering to the criminal justice system. According to the court, "[t]he need to develop all relevant facts in the adversary system is both fundamental and comprehensive... To ensure that justice is done, it is imperative to the function of courts that compulsory process be available for the production of evidence needed either by the prosecution or by the defense." (Id. at p. 709.) The court determined that the production of evidence implicates the constitutional rights of individuals who are charged with crimes. Specifically, the court found that a trial court must strive to insure that all relevant and admissible evidence is produced, so to protect the constitutional guarantees of the Fifth and Sixth Amendment. (*Id.* at p. 711.) The court concluded that the preclusion of relevant evidence in a criminal proceeding, because of a general claim of confidentiality, endangers the fairness of the criminal adjudication process and is unacceptable. (*Id.* at pp. 712-713.) Holding that the documents must be produced for in-camera review pursuant to the subpoena, the court wrote: "When the ground for asserting privilege as to subpoenaed materials sought for use in a criminal trial is based only on the generalized interest in confidentiality, it cannot prevail over the fundamental demands of due process of law in the fair administration of criminal justice. The generalized assertion of privilege must yield to the demonstrated, specific need for evidence in a pending criminal trial." (*Id.* at p. 713.)

Mr. Touchstone made a showing to respondent court that these records were relevant, material, and exculpatory in nature to the pending criminal proceedings. The records reflect Renteria's character and propensity for violence, which is an imperative avenue of cross examination in a case of self-defense. The records demonstrate Renteria's state of mind at the time of the underlying incident and immediately afterwards, and also contain numerous personal statements regarding the incident itself, all of which are relevant and discoverable in the criminal trial against Mr. Touchstone. Renteria made public and private statements about the incident that reflect on his character and credibility, factors which must be explored in the pending trial which boasts Renteria as the sole complaining witness. Based on the records available on Renteria's public Facebook page, the

defense has direct and reasonable belief that the entire record of his Facebook page will contain supplemental relevant, discoverable, material, exculpatory content that can and should be produced in the criminal proceedings against Mr. Touchstone.

In accord with this showing and belief, respondent court found that Mr. Touchstone's due process rights were implicated in the contents of these records and that the records should be produced for in camera review to determine the scope and manner of production to the parties. Respondent court found that Mr. Touchstone's right to a fair trial demanded the in camera receipt and review of the subpoenaed records. As in *Chambers* and *Nixon*, the court considered notions of fairness and fundamental due process in making its ruling, holding that Mr. Touchstone was entitled to at least a judicial review of these records in order to ensure the achievement of a fair trial. The complaining witness will be called to testify in this case, and Mr. Touchstone has a right to fully review the evidence relevant and material to his testimony and the facts underlying the instant case. Having shown respondent court good cause to believe that such relevant and material records exist, the court properly determined that the records should be produced. This Court should uphold that ruling.

B. Wardius and Its Progeny Uphold a Due Process Right to Pretrial Discovery Such as the Social Media Records Sought in this Case.

Despite the Court of Appeal opinion to the contrary, a constitutional right to pretrial discovery exists under case law, particularly in instances such as these where the prosecution has access to relevant social media records and the defense does not. In Wardius v. Oregon (1973) 412 U.S. 470, the United States Supreme Court acknowledged the importance of discovery reciprocity in criminal cases, holding that inequitable discovery rules violate due process. The court stated that "although the Due Process Clause has little to say regarding the amount of discovery which the parties must be afforded... it does speak to the balance of forces between the accused and his accuser..." (Id. at p. 474.) The court went on to hold that "in the absence of a strong showing of state interests to the contrary, discovery must be a twoway street. The state may not insist that trials be run as a 'search for truth' so far as defense witnesses are concerned, while maintaining 'poker game' secrecy for its own witnesses." (*Id.* at p. 475.)

Following the *Wardius* holding, this Court ruled in *Evans v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 617, that where "the People are in a position to compel a lineup and utilize what favorable evidence is derived therefrom, fairness requires that the accused be given a reciprocal right to discover and utilize contrary evidence." (*Id.* at p. 623.) In that case, this Court held that, upon adequate showing of materiality, a criminal defendant could obtain the

same discovery (specifically a line-up) as the prosecution in order to obtain a fair trial and realize due process. (*Ibid.*) *Evans* acknowledges that fairness in discovery procedures may demand reciprocity, when an adequate showing can be made that the discovery must be produced to the criminally accused for a fair trial.

In Wardius, when the defendant's right to a fair trial and ability to prepare an intelligent defense was impinged by unequal discovery laws, those laws were found unconstitutional. Evans shared a similar holding that fairness and reciprocity have a place in criminal discovery procedures where adequate showing and safeguards are in place. Under Wardius and Evans, the SCA is unconstitutional as applied in instances such as these where there is a glaring lack of reciprocity in access to social media records for pertinent witnesses. Under the current interpretation of the SCA, prosecutors have unbridled access to social media records upon a low threshold showing, while criminal defendants are barred from obtaining the same records under any standard. This lack of reciprocity in pretrial discovery rises to the level of a due process violation because, just as the prosecutor regularly relies upon these precise records to prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt, the defense requires these same records to defend against the charges and allegations of their case. In the instant case, there is no compelling governmental interest in refusing this discovery to defense counsel, particularly given the obvious relevance of the subpoenaed records in the ascertainment of truth and the regularity with which the prosecution obtains similar records in their prosecutions.

The Court of Appeal states that criminal prosecutions are "in no sense" a symmetrical proceeding," noting that the prosecution "assumes substantial affirmative obligations and accepts numerous restrictions, neither of which are imposed on the defendant." (United States v. Turkish (2d Cir. 1980) 623 F.2d 769, 774.) Turkish notes the government's authority to make arrests, search private homes, wiretap telephones, and utilize large public agencies as investigative arms. (*Ibid.*) In these papers, Mr. Touchstone is not asking for authority to arrest, issue search warrants, conduct wiretapping, or seize assets with the assistance of public law enforcement. Mr. Touchstone seeks equity and fairness in the formal discovery process as he defends himselfwith constitutionally-afforded adequate and prepared counsel-against criminal charges that threaten to incarcerate him in state prison, for what may be the remainder of his natural life. Mr. Touchstone does not make unreasonable or irrational demands in this litigation. He seeks what the United States Constitution promises all citizens: fair access to due process in the court of law and an honest opportunity to pursue justice before criminal conviction, without games, secrecy, or willful evasion of the truth. Because, as this Court has held:

The search for truth is not served but hindered by the concealment of relevant and material evidence. Although our system of administering criminal justice is adversary in nature,

a trial is not a game. Its ultimate goal is the ascertainment of truth, and where furtherance of the adversary system comes in conflict with the ultimate goal, the adversary system must give way to reasonable restraints designed to further that goal.

(In re Ferguson (1971) 5 Cal.3d 525, 531-32.)

C. The Court's Holding in *Hammon* should be Limited or Overruled Because the Sixth Amendment Right to Confrontation, Including the Right to Effective and Informed Cross Examination, Requires Disclosure of Certain Records Pretrial.

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