IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA
No. S245203

FACEBOOK, INC.,
Petitioner,
vs.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,
Respondent.

LANCE TOUCHSTONE,
Real Party in Interest.

After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District,
Division 1, No. D072171

Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego,
Case No. SCD268262
Hon. Kenneth K. So, Department SD-55
Tel. No. 619-450-5055

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PERKINS COIE LLP
James G. Snell, Bar No. 173070
JSnell@perkinscoie.com
Christian Lee, Bar No. 301671
clee@perkinscoie.com
3150 Porter Drive
Palo Alto, California 94304-1212
Telephone: 650.838.4300
Facsimile: 650.838.4350

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Defendant fails to meet the standard for review. A Court of Appeal decision is reviewable by this Court “[w]hen *necessary* to secure uniformity

¹⁵ *Id.* at p. 733.

¹⁶ *Id.* at pp. 737-738.

¹⁷ *Id.* at pp. 739, 743-744.

¹⁸ *Id.* at pp. 745-748.

¹⁹ *Id.* at p. 747.

of decision or to settle an important question of law.”²⁰ Review should be denied where the Court of Appeal “correctly declares the conclusions . . . that have been reached” by this Court.²¹ Defendant did not file a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal and has failed to call the Court of Appeal’s attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact. This Court must, therefore, accept the issues and facts as set forth by the Court of Appeal.²²

As the Court of Appeal in *Facebook I* did before it, the Court of Appeal in *Facebook II* applied the SCA in a manner consistent with other California decisions as well as decisions of federal and state appellate courts throughout the country. The Court of Appeal also correctly analyzed the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution as repeatedly and consistently applied by this Court. Thus, review is not “necessary” to “secure uniformity of decisions” or to “settle” any issue of law.²³ The SCA is settled. Defendant has failed to carry his burden for review and his Petition should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held that Federal Law Prohibits Facebook from Disclosing Communications Content in Response to Defendant’s Subpoena.

The Court of Appeal correctly held that the SCA prohibits enforcement of Defendant’s subpoena. The SCA is a federal criminal statute that makes it unlawful for a provider of an electronic communication service to “divulge to any person or entity the contents of a communication while in electronic storage by that service.”²⁴ The statute

²⁰ Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b) [emphasis added].

²¹ *Bohn v. Better Biscuits, Inc.* (1938) 26 Cal.App.2d 61, 72.

²² Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2); *People v. Correa* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 331, 334, fn. 3.

²³ Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).

²⁴ 18 U.S.C. § 2702(a)(1).

defines “contents” to include “any information concerning the substance, purport, or meaning” of an electronic communication.²⁵

The SCA enumerates only a few, narrow exceptions to the prohibition on disclosing the contents of a communication, none of which include a subpoena issued by a criminal defendant.²⁶ Instead, compelled disclosure of communications content can take place only in response to a search warrant “issued using the procedures described in the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (or, in the case of a State court, issued using State warrant procedures).”²⁷ For certain categories of content, the statute permits a “governmental entity” to require disclosure under an administrative subpoena or court order obtained by the governmental entity.²⁸ However, courts have held that because people enjoy a reasonable expectation of privacy in the content of their electronic communications, providers cannot be compelled to disclose content except in response to a warrant based on probable cause.²⁹ And in any event, Section 2703 does

²⁵ 18 U.S.C. § 2510(8).

²⁶ See, e.g., *Facebook II*, *supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 748 [directing superior court to grant Facebook’s motion to quash Defendant’s subpoena for content because “[t]he SCA expressly prohibits electronic communication service providers from ‘knowingly divulg[ing] to any person or entity the contents of a communication’”]; *Facebook I*, *supra*, 192 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 450 [“The SCA provides no direct mechanism for access by a criminal defendant to private communications content”]; *United States v. Pierce* (2d Cir. 2015) 785 F.3d 832, 842 [“The SCA does not, on its face, permit a defendant to obtain [communications content] information.”].

²⁷ 18 U.S.C. § 2703(a).

²⁸ 18 U.S.C. § 2703(b)(1)(B).

²⁹ See, e.g., *United States v. Warshak* (6th Cir. 2010) 631 F.3d 266, 288; Pen. Code, § 1546.1, subds. (a), (b) [requiring governmental entities to obtain a search warrant or wiretap order before obtaining “electronic communications information”].

not apply to criminal defendants, because they are not a “governmental entity.”³⁰

When the SCA prohibits disclosure, it preempts any provision of state law—including court orders—that would otherwise require that disclosure.³¹ For that reason, “California’s discovery laws cannot be enforced in a way that compels [a provider] to make disclosures violating the [SCA].”³²

Here, Defendant agrees that the SCA contains no exception that would permit Facebook to comply with the subpoena by disclosing the contents of communications to Defendant. Accordingly, as the Court of Appeal recognized, “the language of section 2702(a)(1) and (2) broadly prohibits providers from voluntarily sharing subscribers’ communications[.]”³³

The language of the SCA is clear. Defendant has failed to show that review of the Court of Appeal’s decision is necessary to secure uniformity of decision or settle any question regarding the SCA.

³⁰ See 18 U.S.C. § 2711(4) [defining “governmental entity”].

³¹ U.S. Const., art. VI; *Olszewski v. Scripps Health* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 798, 815 [explaining that a State law conflicts with federal law, and is therefore preempted, “where it is impossible for a private party to comply with both State and federal requirements”].

³² *Negro v. Superior Court* (2015) 230 Cal.App.4th 879, 888-889; *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at pp. 729, 744 [“The order here cannot be enforced without compelling Facebook to violate the SCA and thus runs afoul of the principle of federal supremacy.”]; *Facebook I, supra*, 192 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 443 [citing *Negro v. Superior Court, supra*, at p. 889]; *O’Grady v. Superior Court* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1423, 1442 [holding that it would be an “unlawful act” for a service provider to comply with a subpoena seeking the content of a user’s communications, even if required to do so by a court order].

³³ *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 737; see also *Facebook I, supra*, 240 Cal.App.4th at p. 213 [“[i]t is undisputed that the materials Defendants seek here are subject to the SCA’s protections.”].

C. Review of Defendant’s Constitutional Issues Is Not Warranted Because Defendant Can Seek the Records from Other Sources.

A court may not “anticipate a question of constitutional law in advance of the necessity of deciding it.”³⁴ Yet that is exactly what Defendant seeks in this case. Defendant can obtain the communications content he seeks from multiple other sources—directly from the victim account holder, from his sister (who is the victim’s girlfriend), or from other addressees or intended recipients of the communications.³⁵ Indeed, Defendant admits that he already has much of what he seeks from Facebook, and that he is not aware that there is anything else relevant in other communications.³⁶ Because there are numerous alternate ways for Defendant to obtain the information he seeks from Facebook, it is not necessary to consider Defendant’s constitutional challenge.

In addition, courts presume statutes are constitutional and must construe them to avoid constitutional problems where possible.³⁷ Here, the SCA merely seeks to replicate the procedure for obtaining “old-fashioned written correspondence” by requiring that defendants “direct his or her effort to the parties to the communication and not to a third party [service provider].”³⁸ Discovery should be directed to one of the parties to a desired communication rather than a non-party bailee.³⁹

³⁴ *Wash. State Grange v. Wash. State Rep. Party* (2003) 552 U.S. 442, 451.

³⁵ *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at pp. 745-747.

³⁶ 1 AE 65, 78-79; Pet. at pp. 10-11.

³⁷ *INS v. St. Cyr* (2011) 533 U.S. 289, 299-300 [holding that courts are obligated to construe statutes to avoid constitutional problems]; *Amwest Surety Ins. Co. v. Wilson* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1243, 1252 [“In considering the constitutionality of a legislative act we presume its validity, resolving all doubts in favor of the Act.”].

³⁸ *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 747 [quoting *O’Grady v. Superior Court, supra*, 139 Cal.App.4th at p. 1446].

³⁹ *Juror No. One v. Superior Court* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 854, 868 [“[T]he SCA protects against disclosure by third parties, not the posting

Defendant concedes that he can subpoena the victim's communications directly from the victim, or from any other parties to the communications, but asks this Court to hold the SCA unconstitutional because he would prefer to obtain the information from Facebook.⁴⁰ Defendant also speculates that the victim may invoke his Fifth Amendment right to not disclose communications or otherwise be untruthful or incomplete in responding to a subpoena.⁴¹ Neither of these reasons justify finding the SCA unconstitutional.

As the Court of Appeal found, “[s]hould the third party witness refuse to comply with a subpoena, the court can immediately order the witness to comply and fashion an appropriate order for noncompliance.”⁴² A trial court has wide latitude to fashion appropriate discovery remedies if the user wrongly refuses to comply, such as holding the user in contempt or precluding the People from calling the user as a witness unless the user

party.”]; *United States v. Pierce*, *supra*, 785 F.3d at p. 842 [“[Defendant] failed to subpoena Parsons and the individual who created the account in his name, the two direct potential sources for the contents of the account. [Defendant], therefore, has not shown any injury from the [SCA]. We reject [his constitutional] claim.”]; *see also Suzlon Energy Ltd. v. Microsoft Corp.* (9th Cir. 2011) 671 F.3d 726, 731 [holding that the user “himself is the person who should be responsible for disclosing his own emails.”]; *Flagg v. City of Detroit* (E.D. Mich. 2008) 252 F.R.D. 346, 366 [noting that “it seems apparent” that it would be unlawful for the provider to disclose content in response to a subpoena, and ordering the issuing party to direct his request to the account holder].

⁴⁰ Pet. at p. 19 [speculating that “the productions from Facebook directly, compared to a user-prompted download, are vastly different in content, format, and magnitude”].

⁴¹ *Id.* at pp. 18-19.

⁴² *Facebook II*, *supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 746; *see also Negro v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.4th at p. 889 [court may order consent on pain of discovery sanctions for failure to comply].

produces his account contents before trial.⁴³ Indeed, Defendant admits that the account holder is the “sole complaining witness” and refers to him as the prosecution’s star witness.⁴⁴ Thus, the Court can fashion an appropriate remedy to protect Defendant’s rights.

Additionally, Defendant fails to address why he cannot obtain the content that he speculates exists from other people who were party to the communications.⁴⁵

The trial court could also address Defendant’s desire for discovery by directing the People to obtain the information by obtaining a search warrant.⁴⁶ That the trial court apparently declined to do so here does not justify compelling a third party to risk contravening federal law. In any event, the Defendant could challenge that ruling on appeal of any conviction.

D. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held that the SCA Does Not Violate Defendant’s Due Process Rights.

Defendant cannot carry his “heavy” burden to establish that the SCA violates his due process rights. Even if Defendant’s due process arguments could provide a basis for enforcing a court order directing Facebook to violate a federal statute, and even if this Court had not already rejected Defendant’s constitutional theories in *Hammon* and other cases, this Court

⁴³ See *Facebook II, supra*, at p. 747 [“[T]he victim is the complaining witness and it is reasonable to infer that the prosecution will be in contact with him before the start of trial.”].

⁴⁴ Pet. at p. 10 [stating that victim’s “character and credibility . . . must be explored in the pending trial which boasts [the victim] as the sole complaining witness”].

⁴⁵ *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at pp. 747–748 [“Touchstone made no showing that he contacted any of the victim's Facebook ‘friends’ who were recipients of the private communications to obtain the desired information.”].

⁴⁶ *Id.* at p. 748; see also *Evans v. Superior Court* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 617 [holding that trial court could order People to call a lineup on behalf of defendant].

should still reject the proposition that the due process clause entitles a criminal defendant to discovery of stored communications content from Facebook.

1. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held that Due Process Does Not Entitle Defendant to the Content Protected by the SCA.

Defendant claims he possesses “the right to pretrial discovery . . . and that any law diminishing the criminal defendant’s right to pretrial discovery should be limited or overruled[.]”⁴⁷ This proposition contravenes longstanding precedent of both the California Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court, which held more than 40 years ago that “[t]here is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case.”⁴⁸ As summarized by the Court of Appeal in *Facebook I*, “[t]he consistent and clear teaching of both United States Supreme Court and California Supreme Court jurisprudence is that a criminal defendant’s right to pretrial discovery is limited, and lacks any solid constitutional foundation.”⁴⁹

“The courts will presume a statute is constitutional unless its unconstitutionality clearly, positively, and unmistakably appears; all presumptions and intendments favor its validity. When, as here, the contention is that a State rule violates due process, the defendant must show that the rule ‘offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions

⁴⁷ Pet. at p. 6.

⁴⁸ *Facebook II*, *supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 739 [quoting *Weatherford v. Bursey* (1977) 429 U.S. 545, 559]; *Schaffer v. Superior Court* (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 1235, 1243 [“Both the United States and California Supreme Courts have held that a criminal defendant does not possess a general constitutional right to discovery.”]; *Facebook I*, *supra*, 192 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 451 [“There is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal case, and . . . ‘[t]he Due Process Clause has little to say regarding the amount of discovery which the parties must be afforded’” [citation omitted]].

⁴⁹ *Facebook I*, *supra*, 192 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 459.

and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental.”⁵⁰

Defendant’s reliance on *Chambers v. Mississippi*⁵¹ and *United States v. Nixon*⁵² is misplaced and does not show that the SCA offends a fundamental principle of justice.

First, Defendant relies on *Chambers* for the expansive proposition that laws cannot deprive a criminal defendant of his due process rights in any manner.⁵³ *Chambers*, however, dealt only with the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses, as Defendant’s own reading of the case acknowledges.⁵⁴ Here, the SCA does not prevent Defendant from confronting or cross-examining a witness: it merely limits Defendant’s ability to obtain stored content from Facebook with a subpoena.

Next, Defendant cites *Nixon* for the proposition that a “generalized interest in confidentiality” does not preclude a subpoena for relevant evidence.⁵⁵ But *Nixon* is inapposite because Facebook’s inability to produce communications is based on a federal statute, not on a “generalized interest in confidentiality.”⁵⁶

Defendant has not established that denying him the right to compel a provider to disclose social media records in a criminal case offends a

⁵⁰ *Facebook II, supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 744 [quoting *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1, 10-11]; *Facebook I, supra*, 192 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 455 [“To prevail on a claim that a statute violates due process, a defendant ‘must carry a heavy burden.’ [citations]”].

⁵¹ *Chambers v. Mississippi* (1972) 410 U.S. 284.

⁵² *United States v. Nixon* (1974) 418 U.S. 683.

⁵³ Pet. at p. 7

⁵⁴ *Id.* at p. 8 [“The rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one’s own behalf have long been recognized as essential to due process.”] [quoting *Chambers v. Mississippi, supra*, 410 U.S. at p. 294].

⁵⁵ *Id.* at p. 8.

⁵⁶ See, e.g., *United States v. Warshak, supra*, 631 F.3d at p. 288 [holding that there is a reasonable expectation of privacy in electronic communications and construing the SCA].

principle of fundamental justice, and there is no issue of law that this Court must resolve.

2. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held that Due Process Does Not Require that Criminal Defendants and the People to Have the Same Investigatory Tools.

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